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PART I. PHYSICAL SETTING OF THE BARRIO LIBRE

Tucson's Barrio Libre historiec district encompasses twelve blocks located tn
the south of the present downtown area. The early commercial zone occupied
much the same portion of downtown Tucson as does today's business district,
and the Barrio Libre area then, as now, was primarily residentizl. Most of
the early commercial structures have been destroyed, along with many of the
Barrio's residential buildings, to make room for high-rises and other con-
stituents of a modern city. The remaining residential area, bounded by Stone
and Main avenuves on the east and west, and by l4th and 18th streets on the
north and south, has been designated by the city as an hlstorlc dlstrlct and
placed on the National Register of Historic Places. -

Adobe is the primary construction material, with brick and frame structures
forming only a small percentage of the buildings. Residences are often
attached row houses; they are set flush with the sidewalks, and have few win-
dow and door openings, for the most part. The rows of adobes set on odd-

size parcels of land, and the non-uniform block sizes, create a unique street-
scape. A visitor to Tucson in the late 1880s gave this impression of the
Barrio: :

. . . the division known as the Barrioc Libre, with .=
its tortuous lanes and alleys, its uninviting adobes,
with their cool, roomy court vards in the interior,
its motley population of Mexicans and Indians, and

the mellifluous chatter of la lengua Castellana, looks
like a bit of old Mexico transplanted tc the Northern

Republic. (Hamilton, p. 66.)

The Barrio has historically been a community of Spanish-speaking citizens,
most of whom have rented their dwellings from absentee landlords. Rents
‘have remained fairly low, and many of the structures have been allowed to
deteriorate. With the creation of the historic district, a number of artists
and artisans have moved into the area, opening small shops and studiocs. Sev-
eral of the buildlngs have been rehabllltated and the Barrio is becoming an
"avant-garde' place to live and work. '

Although the historic name of this area is the Barrio Libre, it is often
called the Barric HistbGrico since the time it was designated an historic
district, and it is known to many of its residents also as the "Varrio Viejo."
There are thirteen or fourteen different barrios existing in Tucson, two of
which-~El Hoyo and El Membrillo--border on the Barrio Libre. The literal
translation of barrioc is "neighborhood,' but the word means more than that.

To its residents, it has the connotation of a way of life, a2 cultural spirit,
and a sense of place. -
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PART TT. HTSTORICAL CONTEXT-—DEVELOPMENT OF TUCSON

The first European to mention the Tucson area was a Spanish rissionary by the
name of Father Fusebio Fancisce Kino, who noted an Indian settlement in the
vicinity of Tucson on bis way to the Gila River in 1694. An Indian rancheria
had probably existed in this area from about A.D. 800 (Chronology, p. 1).
Spanish missionaries traveled throughout the Southwest establishing missions
in their efforts to civilize and Christianize the Indians. Revolts by the
local Pima Indian tribes and the necessity of guarding the route to California
led to the establishment of a presidio south of Tucson, at Tubac, in 1752.
Tubac was the northernmost Spanish fort until 1770, when the Spanish initiated
construction of a presidic in the vicinity of what is now .the Tucson Museum of
Art complex in downtown Tucson. The Spanish garrison abandoned Tubac in 1886,
occupying Tucson, and lending protection frow the marauding Apaches to the sur
rounding farmers, missionaries, and peaceful Indians (Around and Roundabout
Tucson, p. 13; Cosulich, p. 50).

1

The presidio population was never large. Reports on the number of Spanish
soldiers garrisoned there range from 20 to 100, and general accounts place
the total population at 300 to 400 between the years 1800 and 1840. A census
taken in 1820 by Father Antonio Arriquibar, Military Chaplain of the presidio,
listed the names of 395 residents of Tucson (Tucson Information Book, AHS).
Although Tucson shifted from Spanish to Mexican control with Mexico's indepen-
dence in 1821, daily 1ife altered little in the presidio. The settlement
remained essentially a military community of soldiers and their families.
Ranchers and miners from the surrounding aresz came to the presidio for sup~
plies and protection, but the population remzined small wntil the Americans
began to trickle in during the 1850s (Lockwood, 0ld Pueblo, p. 38; Saarimen
manuscript, Chap.4).

It was the Mormon Battaliom that first raised the American flag in Tucson in
December 1846,-bﬁt the United States did not formally acquire the territory
until the Gadeden Purchase was effected in 1854, TIn 1856, Mexican troops
withdrew from the presidic, and American soldiers took possession of the fort.
Although several enterprising Anglos had already found their way to Tucson and
settled there prior to the Gadsden Purchase, large numbers did not begin to
arrive until after 1856 (Chromology, p. 5; Lockwood, 0ld Pueblo, p. 34). The
San Diego Herald described Tucson in 18355:

. . . on a small eminence near the rivulet, appears the town of

" Tuxon (sic), the largest one in the new acgquisition, formerly a
mere presidio; but discharged soldiers and other citizens have
built their little huts around it until it has grown to be a place
of some 600 to 70C inhabitants . . . . A few Americans and for-
eigners have been setitled there for some time, carrying on some
business, and their number will doubtless be increazsed by this
vear"s immigration from Texas. (San Diego Eerald, zugust 11,-1855,
from Cosulich, p. 68.)

The Butterfield Overland Stage Company began operating between St. Louis and
San Francisco in 1858, with stops in El Paso, Tucson, and Yumz, thereby dim- -
inishing the effects of Tucson's isolated location by bringing regular mail
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and supply deliveries. It also brought a stream of engineers, teachers, min-
isters, doctors, investors, and other specialists needed to develop the fron-
tier (M. S. T. & T. Co.; Szarinen manuscript, Chap. 9)}.

Tucson's 1860 census showed a growth in population to nesrly 1,000 inhabitants,
but the town still presented a rather shahhy appearance. A letter published in
the Daily Alta Californian gives this impression:

Near Tucson we passed some small vineyards and peach trees, also
fields of grain and some gardens. The town is dilapidated~-spread
over a large surfacte, with heaps of dried mud in the streets. The
houses have sluiceways coursing down their sides, an evidence that
it rains here sometimes; and the people—-I have only got a glimpse
of them, I had seen them before and the officers of justice would
be anxious to see them again . . . they drink whiskey and deal monte

. . and they always fear strangers . . . (Daily Alta Californian,
July 1, 1860, from Cosulich, pp. 70-71.) -

The opening of the Civil War in 1861 caused troops to be withdrawn from Tucson
to fight in the east, leaving the town open to attacks from the Apaches. Many
of the prominent Anglo settlers were Southern sympathizers and a great cele~
bration took place when Confederate troops occupled the town in February 1862.
The joy was short-lived, as Undon troops entered in May 1862 and declared mar~
tizl law. While under the administration of the Union Army, the first survey
of Tucson was commissioned, resulting in the Fergusson map and instructioms to
William S. Oury to record property titles. Most of the settlement at this time
surrounded the site of the old presidioc. '

The Fergusson map does not extend as far south zs the Barrio district, and the
Oury property recordings are essentlally in the area included 6n the Fergusson
map. Inexact boundary descriptions and omission of properties in the property
record hook cause diffifculty in ascertaining if any of the recorded lots were
located in the Barrio (Fergusson map, Oury Property Record Book).

From 1855-1863 Arizona had heen a part of Dona Ana County in New Mexico Terri-
tory. In 1863 Arizona became a separate territory with its capital at Pres-
cott. Tucson had hecome the central point for distribhution of supplies from

the east to the west coast. The next vear, 1864, Tucson became an incorporzted
town by proclamation of the Territorial Governor, and town officials were appoin-
ted.. Tucson's population had grown during the war to approximately 1,500 citi- -
zens, but the community still presented a sorry aspect (Chronology, p. 63 Lock-
wood, 01d Pueblo, p. 39). The wife of a Confederate officer made this entry in
her dlary in 1865:

At last we have drlfted into port, but zlesl I look around me with
a sinking heart and wonder if this can be the goal we have been
striving so hard to reach. Excepting the wretched, squalid town
of Janos in Mexico,...... I do not remember of ever having seen &
less inviting, less promising prospect for a home. Tucson is cer-
tainly the most forlorn, dreary, desolate. God forsaken spot of
earth ever trodden by the foot of a white man.  The low, mud hov-
els are constructed regardless of comfort or convenience, tpere &Te
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but ome or two glass windows in the town ané not a single board
floor. Narrow, crooked, filthy streets, very few white washed
walls." (Diary of Mrs. Granville Oury, notation of Nowv. 11 1865,
In Cosulich, pp. 72-73.1

The military garrison had abandoned its downtown camp in 1864, but a new fort
was built and occupied a few miles to the northeast in 1867. Streets had zlready
been cut through the old presidio walls, and adobe bricks taken from the wall -
used in construction of the town (About and Roundabout, . 13-143 Lockwood),

01d Pueblo, p. 35). A minor building boom occurred in Tucson in 1866 as sev-—
eral mercantile firms had transported large stocks of goods to the town, and -
more substantial houses began to be constructed (Purcell, p. 45).

Tucson had displaced Prescott as the territorial capital in 1867 and four
vears later was incorporated as a village by the Pima County Board of Super~
visors (Chronology, pp- 6-7). The new town officials immediately set about to
acquire a townsite patent for Tucson from the United States government. They
submitted an application for 1, 280 acres, the maximum allowed in June 1871.
Al though they had not vet recelved title to the land, the village officials
contracted S. W. Foreman to survey tbe townsite in March 1872, and the local
newspaper advertised procedures for townspeople to acgquire wvacant lots. The
Recorder proceeded to record property deeds that same year, even though the
actual townsite patent was not approved wmtil 1874. Property titles were in
a chaotic state because the Mexicans had removed all of the property records
when they withdrew in 1856. Federal laws required a continuous chain.of title
dating back to the Spanish or Mexican grant, a difficult task for Tucson's
citizens in 1872. For the most part, if a person could prove that he or she
had "taken up and improved" a piece of property and could verbally state its
changes of ownership as far back as possible, he or she was awarded title
{Pederson).

Tucson was f£inally growing into a full-fledged town. A traveler described
it thus in 1877:

Tucson had two hotels, a county court-house and jail, fifteen
general stores, a branch United States depository, two breweries,
six attorneys, five physicians, one news depot, ten saloons, two
rilliners, two flouring mills, three barbers, £four boot and shoe
stores, four feed and livery stables, a public schoolhouse and a
about three hundred pupils, a Catholic school under the charge of
the Sisters of St. Joseph, with about two hundred puplls, one
photographic gallery, two jewelers, several small establishments,
and one newspaper . . . {Hodge, p. 154).

The city functioned without a central water system until 1882. Prior to
that time the city's water needs were met by use of private wells and "EL
03ito Spring', a natural artesian well on South Main Avenue. Residents
were required to buy ration tickets to obtain water at the Spring (Cosulich
papers, Power). :




LoV Y el \Dalk i iU DASLULLLG )

HABS No. AZ-73 (Page 5)

The 1870 population of 3,000 had more than doubled to 7,000 by 1880. sStill,
most of the population had Spanish surnames. The census schedules for 1860,
1864, and 1870 show that over 70 percent of the population was of Hispanic
origin. And, until 1880, nearly two-thirds of all of the Tucson inhabitants
were male. By 1890 this was more evenly distributed between 54 percent males
and 46 percent females. Nevertheless, Anglo women were rarely found in Tucson
“until the 1880s. The 1860 census lists only ejight Anglo women and the 1870
census only 37, some of whom were nuns. termarriage between Anglo men amd
Mexican women that linked the two commumities and forged lasting personal and
business ties. DBetween 1863 and 1880 the Mexican and Anglo upper classes were
nearly indistinguishable (Tucson Information Book; Saarinen manuseript, Chap.
1; Officer). :

The 1880s ushered in new developments with the coming of the railroad. An
article in the Arizona Daily Star of 1879 gives a good description of the
town and prefaces the changes that would occur within a’ few short years:

Tucson is, beyond all guestion, the city of Arizona. It has a
population of about eight thousand, two-thirds of which is Mexican.
2 number of extensive business houses are located in Tucson that
do a large lucrative trade, especially with the state of Senora,
Mexico. ©¥Now that it is settled that the railroad will pass within
the city limits, the probabilities are that a new town will spring
up in the immediate vicinity of the company's buildings, one more
pleasing than now exist. It will be discovered that a frame’build-
ing, properily constructed, can be made as coel and comfortable as
one of brick or adobe, and when this is known we may look for some-
thing possessing more claime to architectural beauty than can now
be found in that lecality. Tucson will be the great centre of
supplies for numerous mining districts of southern Arizona, and

it is destined to become a2 place of great importance, that teoo in
a2 very short time. (Arizona Daily Star, July 17, 1879, p. 1.)

The first traim over the Southern Pacific tracks reached Tueson on March 20,
1880 (Chronology, p. 8). The arrival of the railrcad signaled the end of
close trading relatioms with northern Mexico and set off a minor depression

as many businesses and contacts between north and south were disrupted. Com-
mercial relations shifted to an east—west focus, and during the 1880s the

face of Tucson was changed. The trains were able to make regular deliveries
of large quantities of building supplies; Anglo inhabitants used the imported
brick and timber to build residences similar to those they were accustomed to
in the east. There was a dwindling reliance on adcbe construction, which had
originally stemmed from the necessity of using native materials, and an Indian
and Spanish tradition of adobe building adapted to the desert climate and way
-of 1ife., Victorian brick and frame buildings with pitched roofs and many win-
dows came to be comstructed alongside the flat-roofed, mud dwellings. Many of
the adobe dwellings were anglicized by adding 2 hipped or gabled roof or modi-
fying the windows. Certain concessions had to be made to adapt the new con-

struction types to the desert climate-roof vents permitted air to pass through

the attic; porches and roof overhangs shaded the windows; and open sleeping
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Porches in the back allowed some relief from the hot summer nights (Deitch, pp.
30, 43-44). Building loans, made after the incorporation of the Tucson Build-
ing and Loan Association in 1888, produced scores of new homes throughout the
town (Hughes).

The 1880s brought more "firsts” to Tucson. In 1881 the town imstalled its
first telephone exchange and was linked to 211 east and west points by tele-
graph. Gas street lights were installed in 1882, and the community's first
waterworks system began service to its citizens. The territorial legislature
voted in 1885 to locate the University of Arizona in Tucson, and ground was
broken for the first building two years later (Chronology, pp. 8-9).

A sdldier traveling through Tucson in the 1880s noted the differences:

Tucson had changed the most apprecizbly of any town in the South-
west; American energy and American dapital had effected a wonderful
transformation: the oldé garrison was gone; the rzilroad had arrived
. American enterprise had moved to the front, and the Castilian

with his 'maromas' and 'balles' and 'szints' days' and 'funcciones'
had fallen to the rear; telephones and electric lights and Pullman
caré had scared away the plodding burro and the creaking 'carreta';
it was even impossible to get a meal cocked in the Mexican style of
Mexican viands; our dreams had faded . . . (Bourke, p. 450).

By the end of the 1890s Tucson had essentially completed its transformation from
a Mexican/Indian village to an Anglo town. The population, decreased by the
depression, was again on the upswing, and Anglos were becoming a majority for
the first time. . :

Tucson continued to progress after the turn of the century—new, large hotels
and commercial buildings were constructed, electric street cars begam operat-
ing, streets were graded and 1it with electric ligbts. The era of territorial
Tucson was about to end. 1In 1912 Arizonans celebrated their admission as the
48th State. The 1920 census revealed Tucson as second in population to Phoenix
(Chronology, pp. 9-2). The city had continued to grow, its prosperity proceed-
ing from the surrounding ranches and irrigated farmlands, the presence of the
University, and tourists and health seekers drawn by the attractions of Indian
handicrafts and ruins, clear skies, and warm temperatures. The city now has

a population of over 300,000 covering 96.5 square miles, and only a few vesti-
ges of her presidio and territorial days remesin (Arizona Yearbook, 1979-1980).

Tucson's efforts at preserving her Indian, Spanish, Mexican, and Anglo-Terri-
torial heritage have met with varying degrees of success. As early as 1%02,
this attitude was common:

Just as sometimes in the large cities & tract of ground, barren,
repelling, covered with hovels and surrounded by sgualor, is, taken
for public use, and in an incredibly short time the houses are
removed, the streets broadened, graded and paved, and . . . the
land itself turned into a park or boulevard of entrarncing beauty .
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so Tucson in the last few years has been physically re—~created and
beavtified. Adobe houses have been pulled down Lo give place to
substantial brick buildings. Crooked streets have been made streight
and narrow ones——no matter what the expense-—-widened. Elegant resi-
dences have been built; trees have been planted and have grown in

countless numbers, and private lawns and public parks refresh the eve.
(Ford) . N
Most of the early commercial area has vanished, demolished in the name of prog-—
ress and development. Urban remewzl in the 1960s caused a controversy -over
preservation of some of the city's oldest adobes located where the art center
block was to be constructed. Some of these problems have been solved by incor-—
porating the historic structures into the modern design. Other structures have
simply been torn down. Yet urban renewal cannot be con%idered the sole culprit:
Tucson's record for the preservation of significant historic land-
marks and the making of historic sites is not good. This is not &
reflection upon contemporary civic judgment; as pointed out earlier,
the first tidal wave of Anglo culture in the 1870s began the oblit-
eration of the past. It has simply been continued by succeeding
generations for want of a more imaginative program. In 1885, prac—
tically the only reminders of the pioneer period still to be seen
were the crumbling walls of San Agustin, portions of the city wall,
and the headguarters of the originel Spanish presidio, then .incor-
porated into a modern dwelling. These, of course, are gone*today.
A pitifully small number of important landmarks were afterward
preserved: and 5t. 2ugustine church, the Orndorff Hotel, the Terri-
torial Capitol, and nearly all the charming family homes of prom—
inent territorial citizens are gone, sacrificed to guestionable
and shortsighted programs of economic progress and municipal improve-
ment. (Brandes, p. 28).

Fortunately attitudes toward historicity are constantly changing. The preser-
vation of the Barric Libre is an example of changing historical focus. An zrea
virtually ignored by the city throughout its history, the Barrio has only since
the 1970s been recognized as the last remmant of Tucson's earliest residential
dwellings, deserving of efforts made to preserve and document the neighborhood.

The Tucson Barrio Association is a non-profit organization having as its gozls
the development of programs to assist Barrio residents and property owners to
maintain and rehabilitate existing structures, to encourage new construction on
vacant lots, to reverse the de-population trend, and to increase the economic
base through skills workshops and creation of new jobs.
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PART II1. HISTORY OF THE BARRIO LIBRE

The Barrio Libre is, and was, a term for the residential areaz south of Tucson's
central business district. The Hhistoric boundaries were never strictly defined;
the area covered by the barrio increased and decreased over time. Translated,
"barrio libre" means "free district," an area where people lived without intru—
sions by police or city officials. In recent times, the term "Barrio Libre' has
come to be associated with crime, sub~standard housing, and other undesirable
characteristics. Because of these connotations the area was titled "Barrio
Histdrico" when it became an official City of Tucson historic district. The
name Barrio Libre is still used, however, by Tucsonans.

Being primarily a working-class Hispanic neighborhood, the area was virtually
ignored during the years of its early settlement by the prominent townspeople,
city officials, newspapers, and historiamns. The earlie&t city street maps do
not piecture the Barrio area, nor do early city property records describe it
(Fergusson Map and Oury Property Record Book). One of the earliest descrip-
tions of the Barrio comes from the 1881 Tucson: City Directory which contains
a section on "El Barrio Libre':

This designation was given by the Mexican residents to that
guarter of the city lyving along Meyer and adjacent streets,
southward of the business portion of the city, occupied by the
americans. It means Free Zone, and in earlier times was allowed
to remain without legal restraints or the presence of a poffte-
man. Here the Mescalian could imbibe his £ill, and either male
or female could, in peaceful intoxication, sleep on the sidewalk
or in the middle of the streets, with 211 their ancient rights
respected. Fandangoes, monte, chicken fights, broils, and all
the amusements of the lower class of Mexicans, were, in this
guarter, indulged in without restraint; and to this day much

of the old~time regime prevails, although the encroachments

of the American element indicate the ultimate doom of the customs
in the Barrio Libre. It must be understood that these remarks
apply only to the lower class of Mexicans and not to the:cultured:
Mexican residents of the city, who for intelligence. and enterprise,
are foremost amoung our people.

The earliest Tucson map encompassing the Barrio Libre area is S. W. Foreman's
1872 townsite survey map. Tucson's first Sanborn Fire Imsurance Company map
(1883) shows only three full blocks of the present Barrio Historico district,

and the 1901 Sanborn map pictures only four full and two partizl blocks of the
twelve—block area. Even though early maps do not include this area, the non-
uniform size of the blocks in Foreman's 1872 survey map presumes that the

blocks were surveyed around pre-existing structures. An 1880 photograph taken
from Sentinal Peak, west of town, shows a number of unplastered adobe buildings
extending down to 17th Street. Cushing, Simpson, Kennedy, Meyer, and Convent
streets can be distinguished, although the streets become mere tracks and the _
buildings ‘are sparse toward the 17th Street end. By 1909 the entire twelve-block
area of the Barrio Histdrico appears on the Sanborn map, showing most of tbe =
structures that exist today in the district.
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PART IV. ASSOCIATED FEATURES OF THE BARRIO LIBRE

The Tucson Barrio Histdrico historic district incorporates not only the twelve
blocks lying between Main and Stone avenues and Cushing and 18th streets, but
also a portion of the El Hoyo barrio lyimg to the west, across Main Avenue. For
about thirty-five years--from the 1880s to 1920—-a large amusement park covered
this area. The park was known as Carrillo Gardens until 1906, and containeéd &
dance pavilion, baseball fields, a zoo, picnic grounds, an opera house, a lake,
gardens, and concessions. The Tucson Amusement Company purchased the park in
1906, remamed it Elysian Grove, and operated it until 1920, when all of the
structures were demolished, the lots subdivided, and parcels sold. This area
of the city had an unusually high water table, allowing the creation of the
large lake, and mourishing the tall trees, gardens, and-lawnms of the Grove, EI1
Ojite Spring, a natural artesian well, was located nearby, as well as Simpson's
Baths, a public bathhouse. The area maturally attracted many towaspeople, and
mule wagons and streetcars carried them to and from the 17th Street entrance of
the Grove. :

Also located near Elysian Grove and El Ojito Spring was the Wishing Shrine~-

a shrine dedicated to an unknown sinner who was supposedly buriéd where he was
killed. Many legends surround the origin of the shrine, most of them having

to do with a guilty lover who was murdered by a jealous husband. The story
c¢irculated that if a person 1lit a candle at the shrine and the candle rémained
lighted through the night, the wish would come true. The original Wishing
Shrine lay to the scutheast of its present location. In 1836 a local architect
designed a new setting and the shrine was moved across Main Avenue to its pres-
ent site.  The Wishing Shrine (El Tiradito) was added to the National Register
.0of Ristoric Places in 1971.

Architectural types found in the Barrio cover a range of styles and periods.
The earliest dwellings (pre-1880) are of the Traditional Sonmoran style; flush-
fronted, contiguous, flat-roofed row houses with recessed openings and metal
canales. draining the mud roofs. The arrival of the railroad in 1880 brought am
increased supply of brick and timber building materials to the west and also
introduced Anglo building elements and design standards into the neighborhood.
Somoran structures which were later modified to add an anglicized roof, porch,
or other element, are called Transformed Somoran, while structures built after
1880 and incorporating these elements are called Transitiomal Somoran. Early
Transitional Sonoranm dwellings retain their flush-fronted, contiguous row house
character, but may have a hipped or gabled roof, dormer vents or gablets, win-
dow transoms, a porch, ete. ZLate Transitional Somoran buildings mnot only
include these features, but also combine a new concept of site utilization.
These free-standing, set-back dwellings have added the Anglo concept of fromt
and side yards. Other styles found im the Barriec include a handful of Mission
Revival dwellings with their sculptured parapets, some sipple Spanish Colonial
Revival structures, and several small structures with simplified, unelzborate
.Victorian detail. The purest examples of early adobe dwellings are located
toward the south-central portion of the Barrio. The perimeters facing onto the
main thoroughfares of Stone and Main avenues tend to be detached, brick and
frame dwellings with Victorian detail. Most structures are adobe-bearing; there
are a number of brick dwellings, a few brick-faced adobe structures, and a hand-
ful of stome buildings. '
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Roofe are sometimes wood-shingled, but are more often of rolled asphalt, compo-
sition shingles, or corrugated metal. Because of the flush~fronted character
of the street facades, landscaping is generally found in the rear yards rather
than along the streets. Vegetation is primarily shrubbery and oleanders w1th
some mesquite, cliinaberry, and citrus trees.

Although the Barrio was considered z residemtial area, corper grocery stores,
butcher shops, bakeries, and small businesses proliferated in the neighborhood.
Many of the dwellings combined business and resideace quarters, where stores
occupied the front of the building, facing onto the street, and living quarters
were located in the rear. Barrio residents earped their livelihoods by tending
small shops, or by working as laborers amd in construction-type employment. The
Southern Pacific Railroad Company was a big employer (Tucson City Directories).
Social composition of the Barrio until twenty years ago was probably over 80
percent Mexican-American. The majority of the residents are still Spanish-
surnamed, but more Anglos have recently acquired property in the neighborhood.
Around 1880, with the arrival of the railroad, large nmumbers of Chinese appeared
in Tucson. The Chinese section of town was loczted north of the central busi-—
ness district, but Chinese grocery and generzl merchandise stores were common

in the Barrio. The black population of the Barrio was hlstorlcally very small,
but has increased within the last twemty-five years.

Civic improvements came slowly to the Barrio. Mexican newspaper articles of
the 1920s constantly complained of lack of proper street lighting, unéven streets, .
and unsafe conditions. The city paved the streets in 1938, and W. P. A. crews
laid sidewalks during the 1930s. Housing coanditions, on the other hand, have
deteriorated in many cases. The large number of low-income rentals in the Bar-
rio creates little incentive to maintain apartments or even to bring them up to
the current building code. Many of these early adobe dwellings have always been
rented by absentee landlords, and repairs 2nd maintenance kept to 2z minimum.

A large urban renewal project undertaken in the lzte 1960s cleared out a large
portion of what was considered "slums," and greatly recuded the arez of the
"Barrio Libre."™ Many of the city's earliest adobes were demolished and numbers
of residents were displaced by the construction of the Community Center complex
and parking lot.

The most recent threat to the existing Barrio ceme in 1971 when the route of the
proposed Butterfield freeway would have cut a swathe through one-third of the
neighborhood. The proposed freeway was the impetus for several actions--resi~
dents organized to prevent the freeway corridor; the Wishing Shrine {(in the dir-
ect path of the freeway) was placed on the Nztionzl Register of Historic FPlaces;
the University of Arizona College of Architecture published an architectural
study of the neighborhood, analyzing the pbysical and social effects of the pro-
posed freeway on the Barrio; and finally, the Barrio Historico historic distriet
was created. The city's historic district ordinance provides an 180-day demo-
lition delay, and requires permits for new coastruction and alterations within
the district. The Barrio Libre Historic District was placed on the National
Register of Historic Places in 1978.
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PART V. BARRIO LIBRE: CONVENT, MEYER, EEXNNEDY, 17TH STREET BLOCK

The buildings on the block bounded By 5. Convent and S. Mever avenues and

W. Kennedy and W. 17th streets, and the Buildings facing this block, are
representative of the types of architecture found throughout the twelve-block
Barrio libre area. The Sonoran style predominates, with its flush~fronted,
contiguous adobes having recessed apertures and few or no decorative details.
Transitional and Transformed Sonoran adobes are more commonly found than the
early Sonoran structures. Building dates range from several pre-1880 houses
to a row of apartments built in 1929. ¥ost of the buildings were comstructed
after 1880 and incorporated Anglo elements of hipped or gable roofs, front
porches, and dormer vents. Many of the originally flat-roofed structures
have replaced their mud roofs with corrugated metal and rolled asphalt gabled
and hipped coverings. 2
The structures on the centrzl block are, with the exception of one row of brick
apartments, all constructed of adobe. On the blocks facing it, there is one
brick edifice (70 W. 17th St.) and 2 stone duplex (147 W. Kennedy St.). Three
structures have been modified so that the original adobe facades are no longer
vigible. Two of these are grocery stores—-The Jerry Lee Ho Market was remodeled
in the 1940s to give it a modern stucco— and tile-fronted commercial appearance,
and Lucky's Market had a decorative brick facade added in the 1930s and 1940s.
The